
  Page 1 of 3 
 

 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Muskogee Regional Office 

125 South Main Street 
Muskogee, OK  74401 

 
 
 
 

November 9, 2017 
 

Dr. Craig Swenson 
University President and CEO 
Ashford University 
8620 Spectrum Center Blvd. 
San Diego, CA  92123 
 
Leanna DeKing 
Director, Arizona State Approving Agency 
3839 N. 3rd Street, Suite 200 
Phoenix, AZ 85012 
 
 
Dear Dr. Swenson and Ms. DeKing: 
 

 The purpose of this letter is to notify you that I intend to suspend payment of 
educational assistance and suspend approval of new enrollments and reenrollments for 
Ashford University’s (Ashford) distance education (i.e., online) programs in 60 days unless 
corrective action is taken.  I am taking this action because the Arizona State Approving Agency 
(SAA) has provided insufficient evidence to establish that it has jurisdictional authority over 
your online programs in accordance with 38 C.F.R. § 21.4250(a)(3).  Consequently, the Arizona 
SAA’s approval does not constitute an approval by the SAA for the State where your 
educational institution is located, as required by 38 U.S.C. § 3672(a)(1).  Therefore, in 
accordance with 38 C.F.R. § 21.4210(e), I intend to suspend payment of educational assistance 
and suspend approval of new enrollments and reenrollments for your online programs if you 
refuse to take corrective action or do not take corrective action within 60 days.  I am taking 
these actions in accordance with 38 U.S.C. § 3690(b) and 38 C.F.R. §§ 21.4210(d) and 
21.4211(a)(6).   
 
 I have reached my conclusion based on the following reasoning: 

Section 3672(a)(1) allocates jurisdiction for approval of an educational instutition to the 
SAA where it “is located.”  Section 21.4250(a)(3) implements this authority and clarifies that 
courses offered by independent study may only be approved for VA educational assistance by 
the SAA for the State in which the institution’s main campus is located.  The term “main 
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campus” is defined in 38 CFR § 21.4266(a)(3) as the location where the primary teaching 
facilities of an educational institution are located.  There does not appear to be any teaching 
location in Phoenix, AZ, according to the evidence provided by the Arizona SAA.   

The Western Association of Schools and Colleges (WASC) does not list a recognized 
teaching location for Ashford in Arizona.  Ashford’s main campus is listed in San Diego, CA, with 
an additional campus location in Clinton, Iowa, and an Administrative Online Student Services 
Center  in Phoenix, Arizona.  Consequently, I conclude that the Phoenix, AZ, location is not a 
teaching facility for purposes of section 21.4266(a)(3) based on the evidence available to me.  
As discussed below in more detail, I encourage you to submit additional evidence to the extent 
that you disagree with my conclusion. 

Additionally, I note that both WASC and the U.S. Department of Education recognize 
Ashford University’s main campus as being in San Diego.  While the school’s 2016-2017 
Academic Catalog and Supplement do not identify a main campus, it is stated on page 1 of the 
catalog that “With the growth of the online student population, the University’s leadership 
decided to move its headquarters from Clinton, IA, to San Diego, CA, and to apply for 
accreditation with [WASC].”  WASC only has jurisdiction to approve institutions with main 
campuses in California, Hawaii, and the Pacific, as well as a limited number of institutions 
outside the U.S.  This fact also suggests that the main campus is not in Phoenix, AZ. 

Further supporting this conclusion, it appears that the Arizona State Board of Private 
Postsecondary Education (Board) does not consider Ashford to be an Arizona institution and 
does not appear to recognize an Ashford teaching location in Arizona.  Ashford is only listed in 
that office’s online directory of out-of-state institutions; therefore, it appears that the Board 
does not recognize Ashford as an Arizona institution.  Additionally, the Board recognizes a 
single Ashford  location in Phoenix, which it described merely as an “online administrative and 
student services center.”  Nor are any Ashford programs listed as being approved for the 
Phoenix location.  For the sake of comparison, the Board does not describe the Phoenix, AZ, 
location of the University of Phoenix, Online, as an administrative center, instead listing dozens 
of programs as being taught at that location.  This evidence is consistent with what we received 
regarding WASC’s approval of your school, and also supports my conclusion that the Phoenix, 
AZ, location is not a teaching location. 

Furthermore, the regulation defining “main campus,” 38 CFR § 21.4266(a)(3), states that 
“[i]f it is unclear which of the education institution’s teaching facilities is primary, the main 
campus is the location of the primary office of its Chief Executive Officer [(CEO)].”  Therefore, if  
a teaching facility existed in Arizona and a disagreement over which of Ashford’s teaching 
facilities is primary existed, the regulations use the location of the primary office of the CEO as 
the main campus.  The Arizona SAA provided us no evidence that the CEO’s primary office is not 
located at Ashford’s Headquarters at 8620 Spectrum Center Blvd., San Diego, CA, suggesting 
that the main campus would be in San Diego, CA, and not Phoenix, AZ, even under this 
scenario. 

http://archiveppse.az.gov/Licensee/LicenseeDetails.aspx?id=3FFzhEDAXoE%3d&IsOutofState=False
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To put it succinctly, the information provided by the SAA strongly indicates that the 
Phoenix, AZ, location does not meet the definition of a main campus.  Therefore, the Arizona 
SAA lacks jurisdiction under 38 C.F.R. § 21.4250(a)(3) and, consequently, the SAA’s approval of 
Ashford’s online programs does not comply with Title 38 requirements.   

 Please note that if Ashford fails to remedy this deficiency through corrective action 
within 60 days, I will suspend payment of educational assistance and suspend approval of new 
enrollments and reenrollments in your online programs.  I will then refer the matter to the 
Committee on Educational Allowances in accordance with 38 C.F.R. §§ 21.4210(g), 21.4211 and 
21.4212, to assist me in making a determination as to whether educational assistance should be 
discontinued for all individuals enrolled in your online courses, and, if appropriate, whether 
approval of all further enrollments or reenrollments in your online courses should be denied to 
veterans, servicemembers, reservists, or other eligible persons pursuing those courses under 
educational assistance programs administered by VA.  Ashford will be provided with the 
opportunity for a hearing before the Committee in accordance with 38 C.F.R. §§ 21.4212-14.  
The Committee will make a recommendation to me, and I will render a decision pursuant to 38 
C.F.R. § 21.4215 regarding discontinuance.  Ashford will then be afforded an opportunity to 
request a review of such decision by the Director, Education Service, Veterans Benefits 
Administration, pursuant to 38 C.F.R. § 21.4216.  However, if Ashford has any additional 
information regarding the Pheonix, AZ, location that justifies a conclusion that the Phoenix, AZ, 
location is indeed the “main campus” in accordance with 38 C.F.R. § 21.43266(a)(3), or makes 
changes to its existing structure, please provide such information to this office as soon as 
possible as such information may resolve this issue.  Please submit any additional information 
to U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 125 S. Main Street, Muskogee, OK 74401. 
 
 I look forward to working with you to ensure that our nation’s Servicemembers and 
Veterans can continue to receive benefits for enrollment in your school’s programs. 
 

Sincerely, 

 
C. JASON McCLELLAN 
Director, Muskogee Regional Office  

 
 


